

#### King Saud University

#### Saudi Dental Journal

www.ksu.edu.sa



#### **REVIEW ARTICLE**

# Immunohistochemistry as a detection tool for ion channels involved in dental pain signaling



## Rosmaliza Ramli<sup>a</sup>, Siti Norasikin Mohd Nafi<sup>b</sup>, Nor Azura Ahmad Tarmidzi<sup>c</sup>, Nurulezah Hasbullah<sup>a</sup>, Nurhafizah Ghani<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Oral Biology and Basic Sciences Unit, School of Dental Sciences, Health Campus, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 16150 Kota Bharu, Kelantan, Malaysia

<sup>b</sup> Department of Pathology, School of Medical Sciences, Health Campus, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 16150 Kota Bharu, Kelantan, Malaysia

<sup>c</sup> Department of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery, Medicine and Pathology, Faculty of Dentistry, Universiti Sains Islam Malaysia, Pandan Indah, 55100 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Received 1 August 2021; revised 21 February 2022; accepted 23 February 2022 Available online 26 February 2022

#### **KEYWORDS**

Immunohistochemistry; Ion channel; Dental pain; Signaling pathway; Detection tool Abstract *Background:* Despite advances in pain detection, diagnosis, and management, the prevalence of dental pain is still on the rise. Although dental pain is not directly related to fatal outcomes, the two most common types of dental pain—dental caries and dentin hypersensitivity—have a significant impact on an individual's quality of life. Understanding the mechanism of the pain pathway is one of the crucial steps in providing better treatment for these patients. Ion channels are critical biomolecules that have been the subject of dental study owing to their roles in the transmission and transduction of external stimuli, as well as in the control and perception of pain. Numerous immunohistochemical (IHC) staining approaches have also been used to identify the many ion channels implicated in peripheral pain signaling in dental pulp.

*Highlight:* This review highlights the critical steps in IHC and its role in the detection of ion channels involved in the dental pain signaling pathway.

*Conclusion:* The key ion channels identified using IHC and whose functions have been widely researched in dental tissues are addressed in this review article.

© 2022 The Authors. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

\* Corresponding author at: Oral Biology and Basic Sciences Unit, School of Dental Sciences, Health Campus Universiti Sains Malaysia, 16150 Kota Bharu, Kelantan, Malaysia.

E-mail address: drnurha@usm.my (N. Ghani).

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.



https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sdentj.2022.02.004

1013-9052 © 2022 The Authors. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### Contents

1.	Introduction		
2.	Materials and methods		
3.	Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	157	
	3.1. History of IHC techniques.	157	
	3.2. Principles of antigen–antibody complex and IHC staining	157	
	3.2.1. Types of antibodies for IHC	157	
	3.3. Parameters for successful IHC staining	158	
	3.3.1. Tools and methodology for IHC staining	158	
	3.3.2. Image analysis and data interpretation	159	
4.	The involvement of ion channels in dental pain signaling	160	
	4.1. The general sensory system	160	
	4.2. IHC for detecting ion channels involved in dental pain signaling.	160	
	4.2.1. Antibody-antigen complex detection method	162	
	4.2.2. Control groups	162	
	4.2.3. Data analysis	162	
5.	Future direction of IHC in dental pain signaling	162	
6.	Conclusion	163	
	Ethical statement	163	
	Funding	163	
	CRediT authorship contribution statement	163	
	Declaration of Competing Interest	163	
Ap	pendix A. Supplementary material	163	
	References.	163	

#### 1. Introduction

Dental pain is a common complaint seen daily in dental clinics. It refers to pain that arises from tooth or dental structuresthe most common are dental caries and dentin hypersensitivity (DH). Despite the advanced methods available for dental pain detection, diagnosis, and management, the prevalence of these two pain-related dental diseases is still on the rise. A systematic review of the Global Burden of Diseases (GBD) reported that oral conditions contributed to a 20.8% increase in disabilityadjusted life years (DALYs) from 1990 to 2010; the most prevalent oral condition being untreated dental caries in permanent teeth (Marcenes et al., 2013). A subsequent review of GBD on oral conditions in 2015 showed only a slight improvement in oral health conditions in low-income countries (Kassebaum et al., 2017). Studies have also shown that DH affects at least 10% of the global population, compromising their quality of life due to the discomfort and pain associated with DH (Exarchou et al., 2019, Gillam, 2021, Idon et al., 2019, Soares et al., 2021).

During dental caries progression, the demineralization of enamel and dentin layers enables bacterial invasion into the dental pulp, the innermost layer of the tooth structure rich in vasculatures and innervations. Consequently, a series of inflammatory reactions and an increase in intrapulpal pressure occur within the pulp chamber, which sensitizes the free nerve endings in the dentin-pulp complex and triggers the pain signaling pathway. The free nerve endings can also be triggered by external sources—thermal, chemical, and mechanical stimuli—which result in a condition known as DH. According to the most accepted theory of DH, these stimuli trigger dentinal tubule fluid movement, which in turn excites the free nerve endings at the dentin-pulp complex leading to DH (Braennstroem and Astroem, 1964).

Pre- and post-operative pain control plays a critical role in providing excellent dental management. Pharmacological management is the most common approach to managing dental pain, with its novel approaches are continuously being introduced. Current pharmacological management usually involves several types of analgesics, such as acetaminophen, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), and opioids, depending on the severity of pain. Advances in research and technologies have provided improved and additional treatment options for dental pain. Research is underway to find new targets for pharmacological approaches, as well as the use of biomaterials, stem cells, exosomes, and tissue regeneration to manage dental pain (Schuh et al., 2019).

Numerous ion channels have been implicated in peripheral pain signaling, including dental pulp. Temperature-sensitive, mechanosensitive, ligand-, and voltage-gated ion channels have received much attention due to their roles in mediating peripheral pain signaling. These ion channels have been thoroughly investigated in the search for new molecular targets for pain management. In particular, the investigation into transient receptor potential (TRP), the ion channel family responsible for thermo- and mechano-sensitive transduction, has led to the development of TRP channel-related analgesia, providing new insights for new drug designs in pain management (Bamps et al., 2021). However, its clinical use in humans is still questionable, as its application in animals and early Phase II clinical trials has produced unacceptable adverse effects related to changes in body core temperature (Bamps et al., 2021).

In pursuit of better options for successful dental pain management, new molecular targets have been continuously investigated. Various investigation tools are available to achieve different research objectives, such as immunohistochemistry (IHC) and western blot for the detection of protein expression, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and gene analysis for the detection of gene expression, and electrophysiology to explore and determine the functional aspects of target proteins and genes. In this regard, studying the expression of target proteins in dental tissues, especially dental pulp, is important, as the level of expression could serve as an indicator that may reflect its function therein (Kang et al., 2015, Nazıroğlu and Braidy, 2017, Zakir et al., 2020). The improvement of the tools currently available is ongoing, with the invention of novel methods also keeping pace. This review highlights the critical steps in IHC, emphasizing its use in the detection of ion channel proteins involved in dental pain signaling.

#### 2. Materials and methods

Using the keywords 'dental pulp', 'immunochemistry', 'dental pain', and 'ion channel', our literature search performed via PubMed and Google Scholar from 2001 to 2021 found 14 publications reporting IHC investigations into ion channels in dental pulp associated with dental pain signaling. The IHC of these ion channels is discussed in Section 4.

#### 3. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

A laboratory technique involving the formation of antigen-antibody complex and its labeling via various methods, IHC has developed throughout the past century (Childs, 2014). Today, different methods are available for different types of specimens and for cellular focus (Mori and Cardiff, 2016). The term IHC describes the combination of immunological reactions (immuno-) performed in biological cells (-histo-), which occur via chemical reactions (-chemistry). It enables the detection of antigens in target tissues in both healthy and diseased conditions. This technique adopts the principle of natural body response, whereby antibodies are produced as part of the immune response in the presence of foreign antigens. Despite the availability of more advanced and state-of-the-art techniques, Brandtzaeg (1998) stated that IHC still plays an important role in designing further experiments, serving as one of the foundations of biomedical research.

#### 3.1. History of IHC techniques

The ideation of IHC began in the 1890s with the production of anti-toxin (or better known today as antibody) for diphtheria bacteria, discovered by Emil von Behring (Behring and Kitasato, 1890). This finding became a breakthrough discovery that significantly benefited patients suffering from diphtheria and tetanus during that era. The IHC protocol was pioneered by Paul Erlich, who teamed up with Behring to understand more about antigen–antibody complexes. Early work on IHC staining by Erlich used aniline dye to categorize the blood cells and the staining method for tubercle bacilli, which is the principle for Gram stain today (Buchwalow et al., 2015). Advances in IHC progressed further with the work of John R. Marrack, who pioneered the labeling of antigen–antibody complex by attaching the antityphoid and anticholera antibodies with a red dye formed by tetrazotized benzidine (Marrack, 1934). The labeling of the antigen–antibody complex was further improved by Albert H. Coons, who used a fluorescent dye—the apple green color fluorescein isocyanate—that gives a brilliant greenish-yellow glow in the dark images (Coons et al., 1941). Fluorescein was extensively used as a fluorescent probe in immunolabeling. However, the development of cyanine and Alexa Flour dyes, which are more stable and available in more variations of excitation and emission wavelengths, has made fluorescein less commonly used today.

Despite the superiority of the immunofluorescence labeling technique, it cannot be imaged under an electron microscope (EM), a tool that detects ultrastructural images at the subcellular level. This problem has led to the idea of tagging antibodies with enzymes, pioneered by Graham and Karnovsky (1966).

Two common enzymes used as tags are alkaline phosphatase (AP) and horseradish peroxidase (HRP), which act upon colored substrates such as 3,3'-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB). Under an electron microscope, DAB precipitates indicate the ultrastructural colocalization of the antigen-antibody complex (Graham and Karnovsky, 1966). Peroxidase-antiperoxidase (PAP) (tagged by the HRP enzyme) (Crowe and Yue, 2019), alkaline phosphatase-antialkaline phosphatase (APAAP) (tagged by the AP enzyme) (Di Cataldo et al., 2012), and avidin-biotin complex (ABC) methods (Hsu et al., 1981) were popular methods used for immunolabeling. As the endogenous peroxidase enzyme is preserved after paraffin embedding and cryopreservation (freezing), quenching of the endogenous peroxidase enzyme is imperative in the peroxidase detection method to prevent false-positive staining. Today, a polymer-based method (Sabattini et al., 1998) is gaining more interest among researchers, as the use of a large number of enzymes conjugated with secondary antibodies on the polymer increases the sensitivity of this detection method while circumventing biotin non-specific binding in the ABC method.

#### 3.2. Principles of antigen-antibody complex and IHC staining

#### 3.2.1. Types of antibodies for IHC

Most antibodies developed for IHC are bivalent Immunoglobulin G (IgG) molecules. The basic structure of IgG consists of two identical light chains and heavy chains held together by disulphide and noncovalent bonds, which give the whole antibody structure a schematic Y shape. Immunolabeling can be performed using either direct or indirect immunolabeling techniques. Direct immunolabeling requires only the presence of a primary antibody (Fig. 1A), which is attached to a specific site on an antigen termed an epitope. This technique requires an abundance of primary antibodies, which are often costly and not readily available.

In the indirect immunolabeling technique, a secondary antibody binds to the preformed primary antibody-antigen complex. In this case, the label (fluorophores or enzymes) is attached to the secondary antibody. Hence, the indirect



**Fig. 1** Schematics of principles of immunolabelling. (A) Direct Immunolabelling. Primary antibody provides the antigenic-binding site that binds to it corresponding epitope, (B) Indirect immunolabelling. This technique involves a primary antibody that binds to its epitope and a secondary antibody that binds to the primary antibody, (C) Polyclonal antibody. Each antibody recognises different epitopes on a given antigen, (D) Monoclonal antibody. Monoclonal antibody recognizes only one epitope on an antigen.

immunolabeling technique does not require the abundance of primary antibodies (Fig. 1B).

The two types of antibodies available for IHC are monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies. Polyclonal antibodies are more widely used in biomedical research due to their lower cost and comparable sensitivity to monoclonal antibodies. Polyclonal antibodies are produced by introducing a large number of different B lymphocytes that recognize different epitopes on an antigen, which later differentiate into plasma cells and antibodies. Different antibodies that recognize different epitopes on the same antigen are produced; hence, the name is polyclonal (Fig. 1C).

Although cross-reactivity may occur with polyclonal antibodies, as they may recognize an epitope on a non-target antigen, they have a lower affinity to other antigens than that they are produced against. Indeed, the sensitivity of polyclonal antibodies has been shown to be comparable to that of monoclonal antibodies (Ascoli and Aggeler, 2018, Smedley et al., 2007, Varma et al., 2002), which are produced from one type of B lymphocyte and thus recognize only one epitope on an antigen (Fig. 1D). Therefore, monoclonal antibodies are highly specific but may be less sensitive than polyclonal antibodies. In recent years, the production of monoclonal antibodies has improved using DNA recombinant technology. Known as recombinant monoclonal antibodies, they are developed via a known nucleic acid sequence and cloning and consequently do not require the use of animals for their production (Kunert and Reinhart, 2016). The differences and benefits of

using each polyclonal and monoclonal antibody are summarized in Table 1.

#### 3.3. Parameters for successful IHC staining

Indeed, IHC plays a crucial role in research laboratories and serves as a guide for subsequent experiment planning. Experiment planning and data interpretation are equally important in determining the reliability of the data produced. To quote Mighell, Hume, and Robinson in their critical review of IHC, "Used appropriately, IHC is a powerful and useful research tool. Used inappropriately, IHC produces confusing and misleading information" (Mighell et al., 1998). In this regard, several guidelines have been outlined to guide researchers in producing robust and convincing data from their IHC experiments (Alexander et al., 2018, Bishop et al., 2018, Janardhan et al., 2018).

#### 3.3.1. Tools and methodology for IHC staining

Prior to performing IHC experiments, the selection of tissue samples was a crucial step that influenced the outcome of the experiment. When animal samples are used, the experiment must comply with the Animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments (ARRIVE) guidelines to ensure that adequate details regarding the use of animals are reported, enabling the readers to evaluate the methodology and reproducibility of the findings (Percie du Sert et al., 2020). This guideline

Character	Monoclonal	Polyclonal
Epitope	Single-epitope binding properties (homogenous)	Multi-epitope binding properties (heterogenous)
Binding specificity	Highly specific, thus a small change in the structure of epitope e.g. genetic polymorphism, glycosylation and denaturation may affect monoclonal antibody binding	Less specific; may recognise non-target antigen with similar epitope (cross reactivity)
Binding sensitivity	Less sensitive	More sensitive
Production	Production takes longer time and expanses. Once produced, the resource is constant and renewable	Can be generated more rapidly at lower cost, however antibody generated in multiple animals may differ among immunised animals
Biophysical diversity	<ul> <li>Lack of biophysical diversity</li> <li>highly susceptible to environmental changes such as pH and salt concentration,</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Its biophysical diversity allows for;</li> <li>better stability when environmentally challenged; more stable over broad pH and salt concentration,</li> </ul>
	precipitation	• casici storage and dirution

Table 1 Monoclonal and Polyclonal antibodies: differences and benefits (Ascoli and Aggeler, 2018, Lipman et al., 2005).

was first introduced in 2010, following discussion and consensus by an international working group, and has since been updated according to progress in animal use in research. Other critical steps in IHC assays include tissue fixation and determination of the sensitivity and specificity of primary antibodies.

3.3.1.1. Tissue fixation. Tissue fixation allows the preservation of tissue morphology, prevents degradation of cell components, particularly antigens and enzymes, preserves antigen immunoreactivity, and facilitates antibody penetration during immunostaining procedures (Berod et al., 1981, Hayat, 2002). The most common fixative agent used is 10% formalin, with the duration of fixation varying depending on the type and size of the tissue. As minor irreversible alterations of the protein structure may occur during formalin fixation (Schacht and Kern, 2015), these antigens can be 'retrieved' to allow optimum antibody recognition by boiling tissue sections in hot water or using buffer solutions such as ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid (EDTA) and citrate buffer (Shi et al., 2011).

*3.3.1.2.* Antibody specificity and sensitivity. The selection of antibodies for IHC is the key to reliable and successful experiments. The use of some antibodies may have been established in laboratory research, and therefore, their specificity and sensitivity are well characterized, in which cases the citation of the previously established protocol is mandatory. However, some antibodies are still new, and reports on their application for IHC are lacking. Thus, researchers are obliged to validate the specificity and sensitivity of their antibodies.

Antibody sensitivity refers to the amount of antibody required to produce positive staining. A highly sensitive primary antibody requires only a small amount of antibody to detect the target protein and can be used at high dilutions and vice versa; a poorly sensitive antibody requires a large amount of antibody for protein detection and must be used at low dilutions. For an unknown or new antibody, its sensitivity is determined via optimization, performed using several different dilutions of that new antibody, from low to high dilutions. Other factors that are critical during optimization are the choice of buffer used for antibody dilution, the temperature during the experiment, and the incubation period of the primary antibody (Janardhan et al., 2018, Walker, 2006). However, a sensitive antibody may not necessarily be able to detect the target protein. The ability of an antibody to detect a target protein is termed specificity, assessed by the inclusion of additional experiment groups, using the same protocol used for the primary antibody. These are the positive and negative control groups that are mandatory for validating the observations and findings from IHC experiments. Details of these control groups have been explained in several IHC guidelines (Alexander et al., 2018, Hewitt et al., 2014).

#### 3.3.2. Image analysis and data interpretation

The interpretation of IHC data has evolved over the past few decades. From the qualitative and subjective assessments of the presence or absence of immunostainings, today the data is interpreted more objectively via various quantification methods. Semi-quantitative and computer-assisted quantification has been developed and is widely used today (Di Cataldo et al., 2012, Fassler et al., 2020, Kaczmarek et al., 2004, Matos et al., 2010, Taylor and Levenson, 2006, Walker, 2006). This technique defines positive staining by setting the intensity threshold for positive pixels and negative pixels, as well as weak and strong positive pixels, and has improved the reproducibility of IHC data (Chlipala et al., 2020).

3.3.2.1. Semi-quantitative method. In an attempt to improve IHC data interpretation, several methods have been developed using semi-quantitative techniques. In 1988, Gundersen proposed a method based on point counting to estimate the volume, surface area, and length of labeled structures (Gundersen et al., 1988). In 2001, Klein proposed a scoring method to determine one additional parameter for image analvsis-the staining intensity-which he used to determine the prognosis of thyroid cancer (Klein et al., 2001). Although the measurement of staining intensity is useful in interpreting IHC data, the intensity score examined and assessed by experienced researchers or clinical specialists takes longer, is prone to human bias, and is more subjective and therefore less reliable (Seidal et al., 2001). These disadvantages of the semiquantitative method were improved by the development of a computer-assisted method, with the data interpretation comparable to that of semi-quantitative methods but with an objective assessment of staining intensity, avoiding scoring disagreement between researchers (Cross, 2001, Matos et al., 2006).

3.3.2.2. Computer-assisted quantification method. The computer-assisted quantification method has gained much interest in biomedical research due to its convenience, reproducibility, and reliability for IHC data interpretation (Di Cataldo et al., 2012). This method, also known as computerassisted imaging (CAI), uses algorithms to identify a labeled structure, usually by physical differences, such as color, to produce the required measurement outcomes-volume, surface area, length, and staining intensity of the labeled structures. Today, different CAI algorithms are available to analyze images from different tissues and IHC staining techniques for both biomedical research and diagnostic laboratories (Dixon et al., 2015, Fassler et al., 2020, Guirado et al., 2018, Jawad and Abdullah, 2017, Lee et al., 2019, Tewary et al., 2021).

Using image analysis software and plugins to analyze large data more consistently, CAI requires minimal work performed by researchers. Introduced more than two decades ago (Collins, 2007), ImageJ was the first free open-source software to provide image analysis tools and is widely used for biological image analysis. More recently, free open-source software, such as CellProfiler and L-measure, has also been available.

ImageJ owes its strength to its numerous plugins and its ability to support various file formats. However, to some degree, the high number of plugins leads to overlapping functions and usability. A more recent image analysis software program, CellProfiler, has gained much interest among cell biologists. Introduced in 2006 (Carpenter et al., 2006), CellProfiler has similar and comparable advantages to ImageJ, except for the smaller number of plugins available. A review of 15 free available software programs for biological image analysis ranked CellProfiler first in terms of usability and functionality (Wiesmann et al., 2015).

The analysis of the complex neuron morphology, which consists of dendrites, cell bodies, and axons, is best performed using L-measure software. The algorithm of this freely available software has the ability to extract large data for neuronal image analysis. L-measure software considers the length, bifurcation, and number of branches of each dendrite of a neuron, making it a suitable tool for morphometric measurement (Scorcioni et al., 2008).

Despite being frequently cited in the literature, most studies that applied the aforementioned software programs provided only minimal information regarding the protocol for image analysis, resulting in difficulty in data reproducibility. In this regard, Crowe and Yue (2019) produced a comprehensive step-by-step protocol for image analysis using ImageJ Fiji software, with no specific plugin applied. Used to analyze the expression of organic anion transporting polypeptide (OATP1B1) stained with DAB and hematoxylin in genotyped human liver tissue, this protocol has been successfully adopted by more recent research published in renowned journals (Chu and Yeh, 2020, Tajan et al., 2021, Wu et al., 2021).

#### 4. The involvement of ion channels in dental pain signaling

#### 4.1. The general sensory system

The sensory system comprises the central nervous system (CNS) and the peripheral nervous system (PNS). The main structures that constitute the CNS are the spinal cord and

the brain. Peripherally, the primary afferent fibers whose cell bodies reside in the dorsal root ganglia (DRG), or the trigeminal ganglion (TG) for afferent fibers originating from the orofacial region, form the PNS. Pain signaling begins when pain receptors or nociceptors on the free nerve endings are triggered by noxious stimuli, such as extreme temperatures and inflammatory mediators, released during inflammation. The free nerve endings of the primary afferent fibers are found on the skin, internal organs, joints, muscles, and dental pulp. Upon stimulation, the painful stimulus is transduced into electrical impulses at the free nerve endings, followed by transmission of electrical impulses via the first, second, and third order neurons that ascend to the brain where pain is perceived. The perception of pain is not a straightforward process as pain transmission can be modulated by various factors at the level of the spinal cord and the brain. Studies on these structures, including the expression of biomolecules that may be involved in dental pain signaling, are ongoing. The results from these studies will shed light on understanding the mechanism of pain and, more importantly, on finding molecular targets that can alleviate dental pain.

### 4.2. IHC for detecting ion channels involved in dental pain signaling

Within a tooth structure, any stimulus that triggers the free nerve endings present within the dentin-pulp junction produces pain similar to that found in other tissues. However, due to some peculiarities in neuronal fiber phenotypes in dental pulp (Fried et al., 2011, Gibbs et al., 2011, Paik et al., 2009) and the types of stimuli that trigger dental pain (as defined by the term DH), the general mechanism of pain may not be exclusively inferable to dental pain. For this reason, research focusing on dental pain mechanisms has been conducted to explore the potential molecular targets that may play a significant role in dental pain signaling.

Numerous ion channels in the PNS interact with each other within the dental pain signaling pathway. Ion channels are one of the important biomolecule components that have gained much interest in the dental field due to their roles in the transduction and transmission of external stimuli, as well as modulation and perception of pain. Ion channels are specialized proteins in the plasma membrane that serve as a passage for charged ions to cross the plasma membrane, following their electrochemical gradients. The movement of these ions initiates and activates various downstream signaling pathways, including the pain pathway. In dental pulp, several ion channels involved in peripheral pain signaling have also been discovered. They are TRPV1, TRPV4, TRPA1, and TRPM8, ATP receptors and purinergic receptor (P2X3), pannexin 1-ATP permeable channel, sodium channel family (Nav1.7, Nav1.8, and Nav1.9), and voltage-gated calcium channels (Cav1.2 and Cav3.1) (Alavi et al., 2001, Bakri et al., 2018, Beneng et al., 2010, El Karim et al., 2011, Ju et al., 2015, Kim et al., 2020, Liu et al., 2015, Michot et al., 2018, Park et al., 2006, Renton et al., 2003, Renton et al., 2005, Sampoerno et al., 2020, Wells et al., 2007, Westenbroek et al., 2004). Here, we highlight the antibody-antigen complex detection method, control groups, and methods for data analysis related to these ion channels. A summary of the IHC studies on these ion channels is also presented in Table 2.

Tabl	e 2 Immun	ohistochemical detection of ion chan	nels involved in dental pain signalling	5.	
No.	Ion channel (s)	Immunolabelling technique	Data interpretation technique	Sample	Reference
1.	VR1 (TRPV1) and P2X3	Enzymatic labelling intensified using nickel ammonium sulphate- intensified diaminobenzidine. Positive and negative controls included, negative control performed by replacing primary antibody with normal rabbit serum or omission of primary antibody. Antibody specificity test included.	Imaging tool: video linked to a microscope. Image analysis: computer-assisted image analysis with details of determination of immunoreactive fibers included.	Human tooth pulp	(Renton et al., 2003)
2.	TRPV1, TRPA1 and TRPM8	Immunofluorescence labelling. Negative control performed by omission of primary antibody	Imaging tool: Visual assessment, protocol not specified	Sprague Dawley Rat dental primary afferent neurons	(Park et al., 2006)
3.	TRPV1, TRPA1 and TRPM8	Enzymatic labelling (avidin–biotin peroxidase) for ex vivo dental pulp staining, immunofluorescence labelling for dental pulp culture	Imaging tool: Confocal microscope (fluorescent images), light microscope (non-fluorescent images) Image analysis: protocol not included	Human dental pulp	(El Karim et al., 2011)
4.	TRPA1 and TRPM8	Immunofluorescence labelling. Negative control performed by omission of primary antibody.	Imaging tool: fluorescent inverted microscope Image analysis: NIH ImageJ analysis software. Details of determination of immunoreactive cells and analysis were included.	TG innervating dental pulp of C57B16 and TRPM8 knock-out mice, TRPM8-GFP-tagged) mice	(Michot et al., 2018)
5.	TRPV4	Hematoxylin and eosin, immunofluorescence labelling	Imaging tool: camera attached to a BX51 fluorescence microscope (fluorescent images). Image analysis: NIH ImageJ analysis software. Co-localization of primary antibodies were analyzed using Co- localization Color-Map plugin in ImageJ software. Details of determination of immunoreactive fibers and analysis were included	Human dental pulp, healthy and pulpitis	(Bakri et al., 2018)
6.	ATP receptors (P2X3)	Enzymatic fluorescence labelling. Negative control performed by omission of primary antibody or replacement of primary antibody with non-specific rabbit LeG	Imaging tool: visual assessment Image analysis: immunoreactive fibers translated into percentage	Human dental pulp	(Alavi et al., 2001)
7.	Tuj-1 (neural stem cell marker) Panexin 1- ATP permeable channel	Immunofluorescence labelling	Imaging tool: visual assessment Image analysis: protocol not specified	Human dental pulp	(Liu et al., 2015)
8.	Nav1.8	Enzymatic labelling (avidin-biotin peroxidase). Positive and negative controls included, negative control performed by replacing primary antibody with normal rabbit serum or omission of primary antibody. Antibody specificity test included.	Imaging tool: video linked to a microscope. Image analysis: computer-assisted image analysis with details of determination of immunoreactive fibers included.	Human dental pulp	(Renton et al., 2005)
9.	Nav1.9	Immunofluorescence labelling	Imaging tool: confocal laser scanning microscope Image analysis: ImageJ analysis software. Details of determination of immunoreactive cells and image analysis were included.	Human dental pulp and TG	(Wells et al., 2007)
10.	Nav1.7	Enzymatic labelling (avidin-biotin peroxidase)	Imaging tool: Scoring method of staining intensity assessed via visual	Human dental pulp	(Beneng et al., 2010)
				(con	ntinued on next page)

 Table 2
 (continued)

No.	Ion channel (s)	Immunolabelling technique	Data interpretation technique	Sample	Reference
			observation by two independent blinded observers Image analysis: protocol not included		
11.	Nav1.7	Hematoxylin Mayer	Imaging tool: visual assessment Image analysis: protocol not included	Sprague Dawley rats dental pulp	(Sampoerno et al., 2020)
12.	Cav1.2 (L- type calcium channel)	Enzymatic labelling (gold and DAB- pre-embedded). Negative control performed by omission of primary antibody or via pre-incubation with peptide against which primary antibody was raised.	Imaging tool: electron microscope Image analysis: quantification performed by counting gold particles in odontoblast and fibroblast that contained nucleus.	Sprague Dawley Rat dental pulp	(Westenbroek et al., 2004)
13.	Cav1.2 (L- type calcium channel)	Immunofluorescence labelling	Imaging tool: Visual assessment of fluorescent images performed using fluorescent microscope Image analysis: protocol not included	Dental pulp stem cells	(Ju et al., 2015)
14.	Et alCav3.1 (T-type calcium channel)	Immunofluorescence labelling. Negative control performed by omission of primary antibody. Protocol conformed with ARRIVE guidelines for preclinical studies.	Imaging tool: Confocal microscope Image analysis: images were processed with Zen software (Carl Zeiss) - protocol not specified	Rat odontoblast cell culture, dental pulp tissue	(Kim et al., 2020)

#### 4.2.1. Antibody-antigen complex detection method

Depending on the study protocol, especially the type of tissue used, different studies have adopted different techniques for immunohistochemical labeling to enable the best visualization of their target ion channels. The investigation of the expression of ion channels in human dental pulp was mostly performed via enzymatic labeling (Alavi et al., 2001, Beneng et al., 2010, El Karim et al., 2011, Renton et al., 2003, Renton et al., 2005, Westenbroek et al., 2004) to enable ultrastructural labeling within the tissue, as described in the previous section. Two studies used hematoxylin and eosin to compare the control group (healthy pulp tissue) with pulpitis (Bakri et al., 2018, Sampoerno et al., 2020), while immunofluorescent labeling was mostly used to label ion channels in experiments involving cell cultures (Ju et al., 2015, Kim et al., 2020, Michot et al., 2018).

#### 4.2.2. Control groups

In line with the guidelines for submission by Alexander et al. (2018), most studies conformed to these recommendations to ensure their data reproducibility. All authors have reported the use of negative controls for their experiments by omitting primary antibodies or by replacing primary antibodies with normal serum. Studies that compared asymptomatic and symptomatic dental pulp or treated and nontreated groups used asymptomatic and non-treated groups, respectively, as controls. However, only two studies included positive controls in their papers (Renton et al., 2003, Renton et al., 2005). As many researchers have overlooked the importance of including positive controls in their experiments, the need to report positive controls must be further emphasized to confirm that true-positive staining is observed in the tissue of interest.

#### 4.2.3. Data analysis

Data analysis is a crucial step in IHC to ensure data reproducibility. Thus, it is important to include and explain the protocol used to analyze IHC images, such as the determination of positive staining, selection of sample and area for analysis, as well as the software and plugins used. Surprisingly, only six out of 14 publications provided a detailed protocol for IHC data analysis. Except for a study by Kim et al. (2020), other studies that did not include a detailed protocol performed their data analysis via visual assessment. However, it is interesting to note that one study reported the use of two independent blinded observers to analyze IHC images (Beneng et al., 2010). This is indeed a good example of performing data analysis; using more than one assessor who is blinded reduces the bias that may result in single and unblinded observation.

Sharing research findings that benefit the scientific community is noble, provided that the correct research method is used and accordingly reported in publications. The methodological considerations required for publication to ensure data reliability and reproducibility, as outlined by Alexander et al. (2018), are summarized in Table 3.

#### 5. Future direction of IHC in dental pain signaling

Biological and physiological activities, such as pain signaling, are governed by the presence of numerous amino acids and proteins within a biological system. Thus, studying the expression of these biomolecule components in both healthy and diseased conditions has made a major contribution toward understanding normal physiology and the changes that lead to pathology. Amino acid and protein detection via IHC is a simple and convenient method that has led to major discoveries in the biomedical sciences. However, these discoveries could

Methodology	Experimental and analytical considerations
Staining	<ol> <li>Description of primary and secondary antibodies (source, species the antibody was raised, epitope it was raised against, and the diluting buffer)</li> <li>Blocking methodology</li> </ol>
	3. Sample preparation – isolation, extraction and storage duration and temperature
	4. Positive and negative controls
Imaging	1. Autofluorescence from proteins or compounds which are intrinsically fluorescent may contribute to false-pos- itive immunoreactivity. Common sources of autofluorescence are:
	a. Cellular structures – mitochondria, lysosomes
	b. Intercellular structures – collagen, elastin
	c. By-product of fixative process – Schiff bases formation in extended aldehyde fixation
	<ol> <li>Bleed-through – may occur if immunofluorescence staining is performed using two or more fluorescent labels. Using fluorophores with distinguishable/different emission and excitation profile would minimise bleed- through.</li> </ol>
	3. Exposure time – longer exposure time increases possibility of autofluorescence and bleed-through. Images may oversaturate and the fluorophores fade.
Image analysis	1. A detailed protocol of image analysis must be included, for both manual scoring or computer-assisted quan- tification and image analysis.
	2. Blind analysis must be performed, whether by different personnel or by blinding the sample labelled.
Image presentation for	Images of both lower and higher magnification should be presented to enable assessment of any unintentional or
publication	inappropriate image manipulation

 Table 3
 Methodological considerations for data reproducibility in IHC staining (Adapted from Alexander et al., 2018).

only be beneficial and meaningful if the data produced were reliable and reproducible. Each step involved in IHC has its own role in achieving these objectives and is critical in producing robust and convincing data worthy of publication.

In the study of dental pain signaling, the detection of biomolecules via immunochemistry not only allows scientists to understand the mechanism of pain, but more importantly, it may shed light on new discoveries for the therapeutic management of pain and pave the way to a better quality of life. In addition, with the advance of fluorescence microscopy, IHC has recently been applied to imaging techniques using CLARITY and light sheet microscopy (França et al., 2019). This technique enables imaging of the rich vasculatures and primary afferents within the intact dental pulp in 3-dimensional (3D), serving as an outstanding tool to study the molecular and anatomical details in the whole dental tissue that aids in understanding dental diseases and their treatment.

#### 6. Conclusion

With a long history of providing evidence for scientific discoveries in biomedical research, the application of IHC continues to serve this purpose today as a laboratory tool that works in parallel with more recent experimental techniques. As explained in this review, it is crucial to adhere to the current guidelines when performing the critical steps in IHC to ensure reliable and reproducible data. In the search to identify the biomolecules critically involved in dental pain signaling, data from IHC have provided anatomical and physiological insights that will guide scientists to move forward within this research niche.

#### Ethical statement

This narrative review was conducted ethically in all aspects. It is clear from any kind of plagiarism; all reviewed relevant articles and resources were properly cited. As this is a narrative review which highlights the use of IHC in dental pain research, it did not require approval from the Institutional Ethical Committee.

#### Funding

This review was fully funded by Universiti Sains Malaysia Short Term Research Grant 304.PPSG.6315503.

#### CRediT authorship contribution statement

Rosmaliza Ramli: Writing – original draft, Visualization. Siti Norasikin Mohd Nafi: Writing – review & editing. Nor Azura Ahmad Tarmidzi: Writing – review & editing. Nurulezah Hasbullah: Writing – review & editing. Nurhafizah Ghani: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sdentj.2022.02.004.

#### References

- Alavi, A.M., Dubyak, G.R., Burnstock, G., 2001. Immunohistochemical evidence for ATP receptors in human dental pulp. J. Dent. Res. 80, 476–483.
- Alexander, S.P.H., Roberts, R.E., Broughton, B.R.S., Sobey, C.G., George, C.H., Stanford, S.C., Cirino, G., Docherty, J.R., Giembycz, M.A., Hoyer, D., Insel, P.A., Izzo, A.A., Ji, Y., MacEwan, D.

J., Mangum, J., Wonnacott, S., Ahluwalia, A., 2018. Goals and practicalities of immunoblotting and immunohistochemistry: A guide for submission to the British Journal of Pharmacology. Br. J. Pharmacol. 175, 407–411.

- Ascoli, C.A., Aggeler, B., 2018. Overlooked benefits of using polyclonal antibodies. Biotechniques 65, 127–136.
- Bakri, M.M., Yahya, F., Munawar, K.M.M., Kitagawa, J., Hossain, M.Z., 2018. Transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) expression on the nerve fibers of human dental pulp is upregulated under inflammatory condition. Arch. Oral Biol. 89, 94–98.
- Bamps, D., Vriens, J., de Hoon, J., Voets, T., 2021. TRP Channel Cooperation for Nociception: Therapeutic Opportunities. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 61, 655–677.
- Behring, E.V., Kitasato, S., 1890. Ueber das Zustandekommen der Diphtherie-Immunität und der Tetanus-Immunität bei Thieren. Philipps-Universität Marburg.
- Beneng, K., Renton, T., Yilmaz, Z., Yiangou, Y., Anand, P., 2010. Sodium channel Na v 1.7 immunoreactivity in painful human dental pulp and burning mouth syndrome. BMC Neurosci. 11, 71.
- Berod, A., Hartman, B.K., Pujol, J.F., 1981. Importance of fixation in immunohistochemistry: use of formaldehyde solutions at variable pH for the localization of tyrosine hydroxylase. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 29, 844–850.
- Bishop, D.P., Cole, N., Zhang, T., Doble, P.A., Hare, D.J., 2018. A guide to integrating immunohistochemistry and chemical imaging. Chem. Soc. Rev. 47, 3770–3787.
- Braennstroem, M., Astroem, A., 1964. A study on the mechanism of pain elicited from the dentin. J. Dent. Res. 43, 619–625.
- Brandtzaeg, P., 1998. The increasing power of immunohistochemistry and immunocytochemistry. J. Immunol. Methods 216, 49–67.
- Buchwalow, I., Boecker, W., Tiemann, M., 2015. The contribution of Paul Ehrlich to histochemistry: a tribute on the occasion of the centenary of his death. Virchows Arch. 466, 111–116.
- Carpenter, A.E., Jones, T.R., Lamprecht, M.R., Clarke, C., Kang, I. H., Friman, O., Guertin, D.A., Chang, J.H., Lindquist, R.A., Moffat, J., Golland, P., Sabatini, D.M., 2006. Cell Profiler: image analysis software for identifying and quantifying cell phenotypes. Genome Biol. 7, R100.
- Childs, G.V., 2014. History of immunohistochemistry. In: McManus, L.M., Mitchell, R.N. (Eds.), Pathobiology of Human Disease. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Chlipala, E.A., Bendzinski, C.M., Dorner, C., Sartan, R., Copeland, K., Pearce, R., Doherty, F., Bolon, B., 2020. An Image Analysis Solution For Quantification and Determination of Immunohistochemistry Staining Reproducibility. Appl. Immunohistochem. Mol. Morphol. 28, 428–436.
- Chu, Y.-D., Yeh, C.-T., 2020. The Molecular Function and Clinical Role of Thyroid Stimulating Hormone Receptor in Cancer Cells. Cells 9, 1730.
- Collins, T.J., 2007. ImageJ for microscopy. Biotechniques 43, S25–S30.
- Coons, A.H., Creech, H.J., Jones, R., 1941. Immunological Properties of an Antibody Containing a Fluorescent Group. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 47, 200–202.
- Cross, S.S., 2001. Observer accuracy in estimating proportions in images: implications for the semiquantitative assessment of staining reactions and a proposal for a new system. J. Clin. Pathol. 54, 385– 390.
- Crowe, A.R., Yue, W., 2019. Semi-quantitative Determination of Protein Expression using Immunohistochemistry Staining and Analysis: An Integrated Protocol. Bio Protoc. 9.
- Di Cataldo, S., Ficarra, E., Macii, E., 2012. Computer-aided techniques for chromogenic immunohistochemistry: status and directions. Comput. Biol. Med. 42, 1012–1025.
- Dixon, A.R., Bathany, C., Tsuei, M., White, J., Barald, K.F., Takayama, S., 2015. Recent developments in multiplexing techniques for immunohistochemistry. Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn. 15, 1171–1186.

- El Karim, I.A., Linden, G.J., Curtis, T.M., About, I., McGahon, M. K., Irwin, C.R., Lundy, F.T., 2011. Human odontoblasts express functional thermo-sensitive TRP channels: implications for dentin sensitivity. Pain 152, 2211–2223.
- Exarchou, C., Betsani, I., Sakellari, D., Chatzopoulou, D., Gillam, D., 2019. A Survey of Dentists in the Management of Dentine Hypersensitivity: A Questionnaire-based Study. Eur. J. Dent. 13, 383–390.
- Fassler, D.J., Abousamra, S., Gupta, R., Chen, C., Zhao, M., Paredes, D., Batool, S.A., Knudsen, B.S., Escobar-Hoyos, L., Shroyer, K. R., Samaras, D., Kurc, T., Saltz, J., 2020. Deep learning-based image analysis methods for brightfield-acquired multiplex immunohistochemistry images. Diagn. Pathol. 15, 100.
- França, C.M., Riggers, R., Muschler, J.L., Widbiller, M., Lococo, P. M., Diogenes, A., Bertassoni, L.E., 2019. 3D-Imaging of Whole Neuronal and Vascular Networks of the Human Dental Pulp via CLARITY and Light Sheet Microscopy. Sci. Rep. 9, 10860.
- Fried, K., Sessle, B.J., Devor, M., 2011. The paradox of pain from tooth pulp: low-threshold "algoneurons"? Pain 152, 2685–2689.
- Gibbs, J.L., Melnyk, J.L., Basbaum, A.I., 2011. Differential TRPV1 and TRPV2 channel expression in dental pulp. J. Dent. Res. 90, 765–770.
- Gillam, D.G., 2021. The Impact of Dentine Hypersensitivity on the Quality of Life: An Overview. Clin. Oral Sci. Dent. 4, 1–6.
- Graham Jr., R.C., Karnovsky, M.J., 1966. The early stages of absorption of injected horseradish peroxidase in the proximal tubules of mouse kidney: ultrastructural cytochemistry by a new technique. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 14, 291–302.
- Guirado, R., Carceller, H., Castillo-Gómez, E., Castrén, E., Nacher, J., 2018. Automated analysis of images for molecular quantification in immunohistochemistry. Heliyon 4, e00669.
- Gundersen, H.J., Bendtsen, T.F., Korbo, L., Marcussen, N., Møller, A., Nielsen, K., Nyengaard, J.R., Pakkenberg, B., Sørensen, F.B., Vesterby, A., &, et al, 1988. Some new, simple and efficient stereological methods and their use in pathological research and diagnosis. Apmis 96, 379–394.
- Hayat, M.A., 2002. Microscopy, Immunohistochemistry, and Antigen Retrieval Methods: For Light and Electron Microscopy. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Hewitt, S.M., Baskin, D.G., Frevert, C.W., Stahl, W.L., Rosa-Molinar, E., 2014. Controls for immunohistochemistry: the Histochemical Society's standards of practice for validation of immunohistochemical assays. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 62, 693–697.
- Hsu, S.M., Raine, L., Fanger, H., 1981. The use of antiavidin antibody and avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex in immunoperoxidase technics. Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 75, 816–821.
- Idon, P.I., Sotunde, O.A., Ogundare, T.O., 2019. Beyond the Relief of Pain: Dentin Hypersensitivity and Oral Health-Related Quality of Life. Front Dent 16, 325–334.
- Janardhan, K.S., Jensen, H., Clayton, N.P., Herbert, R.A., 2018. Immunohistochemistry in Investigative and Toxicologic Pathology. Toxicol. Pathol. 46, 488–510.
- Jawad, S.N., Abdullah, B.H., 2017. Computer Assisted Immunohistochemical Score Prediction Via Simplified Image Acquisition Technique. J. Baghdad Coll. Dent. 29.
- Ju, Y., Ge, J., Ren, X., Zhu, X., Xue, Z., Feng, Y., Zhao, S., 2015. Cav1.2 of L-type Calcium Channel Is a Key Factor for the Differentiation of Dental Pulp Stem Cells. J. Endod. 41, 1048–1055.
- Kaczmarek, E., Górna, A., Majewski, P., 2004. Techniques of image analysis for quantitative immunohistochemistry. Rocz. Akad. Med. Bialymst. 49 (Suppl 1), 155–158.
- Kang, N., Kim, H., Jae, Y., Lee, N., Ku, C.R., Margolis, F., Lee, E.J., Bahk, Y.Y., Kim, M.S., Koo, J., 2015. Olfactory marker protein expression is an indicator of olfactory receptor-associated events in non-olfactory tissues. PLoS ONE 10, e0116097.
- Kassebaum, N.J., Smith, A.G.C., Bernabé, E., Fleming, T.D., Reynolds, A.E., Vos, T., Murray, C.J.L., Marcenes, W., 2017. Global, Regional, and National Prevalence, Incidence, and Dis-

ability-Adjusted Life Years for Oral Conditions for 195 Countries, 1990–2015: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors. J. Dent. Res. 96, 380–387.

- Kim, J.H., Won, J., Oh, S.B., 2020. Expression of Ca(V)3.1 T-type Calcium Channels in Acutely Isolated Adult Rat Odontoblasts. Arch. Oral Biol. 118, 104864.
- Klein, M., Vignaud, J.M., Hennequin, V., Toussaint, B., Bresler, L., Plénat, F., Leclère, J., Duprez, A., Weryha, G., 2001. Increased expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor is a pejorative prognosis marker in papillary thyroid carcinoma. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 656–658.
- Kunert, R., Reinhart, D., 2016. Advances in recombinant antibody manufacturing. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 100, 3451–3461.
- Lee, S.L., Cabanero, M., Hyrcza, M., Butler, M., Liu, F.F., Hansen, A., Huang, S.H., Tsao, M.S., Song, Y., Lu, L., Xu, W., Chepeha, D.B., Goldstein, D.P., Weinreb, I., Bratman, S.V., 2019. Computer-assisted image analysis of the tumor microenvironment on an oral tongue squamous cell carcinoma tissue microarray. Clin. Transl. Radiat. Oncol. 17, 32–39.
- Lipman, N.S., Jackson, L.R., Trudel, L.J., Weis-Garcia, F., 2005. Monoclonal versus polyclonal antibodies: distinguishing characteristics, applications, and information resources. ILAR J. 46, 258– 268.
- Liu, X., Wang, C., Fujita, T., Malmstrom, H.S., Nedergaard, M., Ren, Y.F., Dirksen, R.T., 2015. External Dentin Stimulation Induces ATP Release in Human Teeth. J. Dent. Res. 94, 1259–1266.
- Marcenes, W., Kassebaum, N.J., Bernabé, E., Flaxman, A., Naghavi, M., Lopez, A., Murray, C.J., 2013. Global burden of oral conditions in 1990–2010: a systematic analysis. J. Dent. Res. 92, 592–597.
- Marrack, J.R., 1934. The Chemistry of Antigens and Antibodies. J. Phys. Chem. 38, 989.
- Matos, L.L., Stabenow, E., Tavares, M.R., Ferraz, A.R., Capelozzi, V. L., Pinhal, M.A., 2006. Immunohistochemistry quantification by a digital computer-assisted method compared to semiquantitative analysis. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 61, 417–424.
- Matos, L.L., Trufelli, D.C., de Matos, M.G., da Silva Pinhal, M.A., 2010. Immunohistochemistry as an important tool in biomarkers detection and clinical practice. Biomark Insights 5, 9–20.
- Michot, B., Lee, C.S., Gibbs, J.L., 2018. TRPM8 and TRPA1 do not contribute to dental pulp sensitivity to cold. Sci. Rep. 8, 13198.
- Mighell, A.J., Hume, W.J., Robinson, P.A., 1998. An overview of the complexities and subtleties of immunohistochemistry. Oral Dis. 4, 217–223.
- Mori, H., Cardiff, R.D., 2016. Methods of Immunohistochemistry and Immunofluorescence: Converting Invisible to Visible. Methods Mol. Biol. 1458, 1–12.
- Nazıroğlu, M., Braidy, N., 2017. Thermo-Sensitive TRP Channels: Novel Targets for Treating Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Pain. Front. Physiol. 8, 1040.
- Paik, S.K., Park, K.P., Lee, S.K., Ma, S.K., Cho, Y.S., Kim, Y.K., Rhyu, I.J., Ahn, D.K., Yoshida, A., Bae, Y.C., 2009. Light and electron microscopic analysis of the somata and parent axons innervating the rat upper molar and lower incisor pulp. Neuroscience 162, 1279–1286.
- Park, C.K., Kim, M.S., Fang, Z., Li, H.Y., Jung, S.J., Choi, S.Y., Lee, S.J., Park, K., Kim, J.S., Oh, S.B., 2006. Functional expression of thermo-transient receptor potential channels in dental primary afferent neurons: implication for tooth pain. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 17304–17311.
- Percie du Sert, N., Hurst, V., Ahluwalia, A., Alam, S., Avey, M.T., Baker, M., Browne, W.J., Clark, A., Cuthill, I.C., Dirnagl, U., Emerson, M., Garner, P., Holgate, S.T., Howells, D.W., Karp, N. A., Lazic, S.E., Lidster, K., MacCallum, C.J., Macleod, M., Pearl, E.J., Petersen, O.H., Rawle, F., Reynolds, P., Rooney, K., Sena, E. S., Silberberg, S.D., Steckler, T., Würbel, H., 2020. The ARRIVE guidelines 2.0: Updated guidelines for reporting animal research. Br. J. Pharmacol. 177, 3617–3624.

- Renton, T., Yiangou, Y., Baecker, P.A., Ford, A.P., Anand, P., 2003. Capsaicin receptor VR1 and ATP purinoceptor P2X3 in painful and nonpainful human tooth pulp. J. Orofac. Pain 17, 245–250.
- Renton, T., Yiangou, Y., Plumpton, C., Tate, S., Bountra, C., Anand, P., 2005. Sodium channel Nav1.8 immunoreactivity in painful human dental pulp. BMC Oral Health 5, 5.
- Sabattini, E., Bisgaard, K., Ascani, S., Poggi, S., Piccioli, M., Ceccarelli, C., Pieri, F., Fraternali-Orcioni, G., Pileri, S.A., 1998. The EnVision + + system: a new immunohistochemical method for diagnostics and research. Critical comparison with the APAAP, ChemMate, CSA, LABC, and SABC techniques. J. Clin. Pathol. 51, 506–511.
- Sampoerno, G., Sunariani, J., Kuntaman, 2020. Expression of NaV-1.7, TNF- $\alpha$  and HSP-70 in experimental flare-up post-extirpated dental pulp tissue through a neuroimmunological approach. Saudi Dent. J. 32, 206–212.
- Schacht, V., Kern, J.S., 2015. Basics of immunohistochemistry. J. Invest. Dermatol. 135, 1–4.
- Schuh, C., Benso, B., Aguayo, S., 2019. Potential Novel Strategies for the Treatment of Dental Pulp-Derived Pain: Pharmacological Approaches and Beyond. Front. Pharmacol. 10, 1068.
- Scorcioni, R., Polavaram, S., Ascoli, G.A., 2008. L-Measure: a webaccessible tool for the analysis, comparison and search of digital reconstructions of neuronal morphologies. Nat. Protoc. 3, 866–876.
- Seidal, T., Balaton, A.J., Battifora, H., 2001. Interpretation and quantification of immunostains. Am. J. Surg. Pathol. 25, 1204– 1207.
- Shi, S.R., Shi, Y., Taylor, C.R., 2011. Antigen retrieval immunohistochemistry: review and future prospects in research and diagnosis over two decades. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 59, 13–32.
- Smedley, R.C., Patterson, J.S., Miller, R., Massey, J.P., Wise, A.G., Maes, R.K., Wu, P., Kaneene, J.B., Kiupel, M., 2007. Sensitivity and specificity of monoclonal and polyclonal immunohistochemical staining for West Nile virus in various organs from American crows (Corvus brachyrhynchos). BMC Infect. Dis. 7, 49.
- Soares, A., Chalub, L., Barbosa, R.S., Campos, D.E.P., Moreira, A. N., Ferreira, R.C., 2021. Prevalence and severity of non-carious cervical lesions and dentin hypersensitivity: association with oralhealth related quality of life among Brazilian adults. Heliyon 7, e06492.
- Tajan, M., Hennequart, M., Cheung, E.C., Zani, F., Hock, A.K., Legrave, N., Maddocks, O.D.K., Ridgway, R.A., Athineos, D., Suárez-Bonnet, A., Ludwig, R.L., Novellasdemunt, L., Angelis, N., Li, V.S.W., Vlachogiannis, G., Valeri, N., Mainolfi, N., Suri, V., Friedman, A., Manfredi, M., Blyth, K., Sansom, O.J., Vousden, K. H., 2021. Serine synthesis pathway inhibition cooperates with dietary serine and glycine limitation for cancer therapy. Nat. Commun. 12, 366.
- Taylor, C.R., Levenson, R.M., 2006. Quantification of immunohistochemistry–issues concerning methods, utility and semiquantitative assessment II. Histopathology 49, 411–424.
- Tewary, S., Arun, I., Ahmed, R., Chatterjee, S., Mukhopadhyay, S., 2021. AutoIHC-Analyzer: computer-assisted microscopy for automated membrane extraction/scoring in HER2 molecular markers. J. Microsc. 281, 87–96.
- Varma, M., Morgan, M., Jasani, B., Tamboli, P., Amin, M.B., 2002. Polyclonal anti-PSA is more sensitive but less specific than monoclonal anti-PSA: Implications for diagnostic prostatic pathology. Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 118, 202–207.
- Walker, R.A., 2006. Quantification of immunohistochemistry-issues concerning methods, utility and semiquantitative assessment I. Histopathology 49, 406–410.
- Wells, J.E., Bingham, V., Rowland, K.C., Hatton, J., 2007. Expression of Nav1.9 channels in human dental pulp and trigeminal ganglion. J. Endod. 33, 1172–1176.
- Westenbroek, R.E., Anderson, N.L., Byers, M.R., 2004. Altered localization of Cav1.2 (L-type) calcium channels in nerve fibers,

Schwann cells, odontoblasts, and fibroblasts of tooth pulp after tooth injury. J. Neurosci. Res. 75, 371–383.

- Wiesmann, V., Franz, D., Held, C., Münzenmayer, C., Palmisano, R., Wittenberg, T., 2015. Review of free software tools for image analysis of fluorescence cell micrographs. J. Microsc. 257, 39–53.
- Wu, C.-L., Dicks, A., Steward, N., Tang, R., Katz, D.B., Choi, Y.-R., Guilak, F., 2021. Single cell transcriptomic analysis of human pluripotent stem cell chondrogenesis. Nat. Commun. 12, 362.
- Zakir, H.M., Masuda, Y., Kitagawa, J., 2020. A novel approach for detection of functional expression of TRPV1 channels on regenerated neurons following nerve injury. J. Oral Sci. 62, 136–139.